
HISTORY OF 720 AMBERSON AVENUE 

 

Kate Aiken Reed, wife of James H. Reed had 720 Amberson Avenue built in 1879 on 
land carved out from the Aiken estate and given to her by her parents, David Aiken, 
Jr. and Caroline Aiken.    

James H. Reed was an attorney who founded the law firm of Knox & Reed in 1877 
with future U. S. Senator, Philander Chase Knox.   Reed’s law firm is still operating 
today under the name Reed Smith, LLP, and is internationally known.   The Reeds’ 
four children were born while they lived at 720 Amberson Avenue, including their 
second son, David Aiken Reed, who served as a U. S. Senator from 1923 until 1935. 

In 1888, the Reed family moved from 720 Amberson Avenue to a home they had built 
next door and sold the home to De Witt C. Clapp.   Clapp was an officer for the Park 
Steel Company and close to retirement age when he purchased the home.  He would 
live there for the rest of his life.  

In 1921 Katherine Reed Frazer, the youngest child of James and Kate Reed purchased 
720 Amberson Avenue with her husband, attorney John G. Frazer and in 1929 
significantly remodeled the home to its present size and appearance.    
 
The Frazers hired the architecture firm of Ingham & Boyd, one of the most 
prestigious local architectural firms of the era, for the remodel of 720 Amberson 
Avenue.   Ingham & Boyd redesigned 720 Amberson Avenue in the French Eclectic 
style, which is shown in the house’s steeply pitched hipped roof and tall chimneys, 
nearly symmetrical facade, and circular dormers, and in details such as the open 
terrace, masonry construction with quoins at the corners, windows with small panes, 
and beaux arts detailing on the first-floor lintels and doorframe. 
 
The house at 720 Amberson Avenue has now had a total of six owners. Detailed 
information on the history of 720 Amberson Avenue is contained in the following 
report. 
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OWNERSHIP 

 

Pre-Construction 

July 21, 1879 (Allegheny County Deed Book 395: 339): David Aiken, Jr. and Callie J. 
Aiken conveyed a 62’ x 200’ lot where 720 Amberson Avenue would be built to Kate 
J. Reed, their daughter and wife of James H. Reed, for $1 and natural love and 
affection.  

Post-Construction 

December 30, 1885 (Deed Book 536: 509): David Aiken, Jr. and Caroline J. Aiken 
conveyed the 70’ x 200’ lot next to 720 Amberson Avenue to James H. Reed for 
$7,000.  When the Reed family sold 720 Amberson to D. C. Clapp, three feet of this 
land was conveyed with the house and remains part of the property today.  

April 2, 1888 (Deed Book 606: 85): James H. and Kate J. Reed conveyed 720 
Amberson Avenue to D. C. Clapp for $7,500.  The lot size was 65’ x 200’, and the 
parcel was described as having a “two-story dwelling house.”   

D. C. Clapp died on May 5, 1925 and left 720 Amberson Avenue to his two sons, 
George and Charles Clapp.   

February 15, 1922 (Deed Book 2094: 240): 
George H. and Annie L. Clapp of Edgeworth, 
and Charles E. and Ella H. Clapp of New York 
City conveyed 720 Amberson Avenue to 
Katharine Frazer, wife of John G. Frazer of 
Pittsburgh for $30,000.   

In 1945, the house at 716 Amberson Avenue was torn down and part of that lot was 
used to increase the lawn at 720 Amberson Avenue, bringing the lot to its current size 
and dimensions.  

Katharine Frazer died on April 19, 1967 and left 720 Amberson Avenue to her son, 
John J. Frazer, Jr. (Will Book 391: 506). 

August 28, 1967 (Deed Book 4541: 341): John J. Frazer, Jr., Barbara B. Frazer, and 
John J. Frazer, Jr., and Mellon National Bank and Trust Company, Executors under 
the will of Katharine Reed Frazer conveyed 720 Amberson Avenue to Richard P. and 
Gertrude A. Mellon for $126,500.   

This deed included three parcels: 716 and 720 Amberson Avenue and 5051 Castleman 
Street.    

From The Pittsburgh Press, March 3, 1922 



April 10, 1969 (Deed Book 4503: 475): Richard P. and Gertrude A. Mellon conveyed 
720 Amberson Avenue to Gordon and Donna W. Gordon for $75,000.   

Subsequent deeds as recorded in Deed Book 10951: 604, 15703: 364 changed Gordon 
and Donna W. Gordon’s ownership status to tenants-in-common and then to tenants-
by-the-entireties.  

Donna W. Gordon died on February 4, 2016.  

On December 9, 2016, William F. and Vivian Fung Benter purchased 720 Amberson 
Avenue from Gordon Gordon (Deed Book 16633:514).  

  



 

AGE OF 720 AMBERSON AVENUE 

 
Construction 
City of Pittsburgh building permit dockets show that on July 7, 1879, Mrs. Jas. H. 
Reed received a permit for the construction of a two-story house in the 20th Ward 
(now the 7th Ward) of the city.  The house was to be built of brick and be 22’ high, 40’ 
wide, by 36” deep.   
 
The Reeds hired Edwin Bindley to construct 720 Amberson Avenue.  Pittsburgh city 
directories show that Bindley was a contractor in the late 1800s and his home and 
office was located at 121 Webster Avenue.   
 
Construction Cost 
The estimated construction cost of 720 Amberson Avenue was $6,000.   
Costs of other houses built in Shadyside within a few years of 1879 included:  

 
-710 Bellefonte Street, $1,200, 1886 
-357 Lehigh Avenue, $1,800, 1880 
-620 South Negley Avenue, $3,100, 1885 
-6105 Walnut Street, $4,000, 1877 
-703 South Negley Avenue, $4,200, 1884 

 
Architectural Style 
Kate Aiken Reed likely had 720 Amberson Avenue built in the Italianate style.  The 
Italianate style was the prevailing architectural style for homes and commercial 
buildings constructed in the Pittsburgh area between the early or mid-1860s and about 
1885. Sanborn Insurance Company maps from 1925 and earlier show that the house 
was constructed of brick and had an asymmetrical footprint, bay windows, and a 
partial porch, which are details common in Italianate homes.  
 
Addition and remodeling, 1929 
In 1929 the house was significantly remodeled by Katharine Frazer, the daughter of 
Kate Aiken Reed.  Frazer spent an estimated $43,000, which was a not insignificant 
amount for a new building at that time, let alone a remodel.    
 



The architects:  Ingham & Boyd 
The Frazers commissioned the Pittsburgh 
architectural firm of Ingham & Boyd to design the 
addition to and remodel 720 Amberson 
Avenue.  Ingham & Boyd, among the most 
prestigious local architectural firms in the 1920s 
and 1930s, then had offices in room 86 of the 
Vandergrift Building at 323 Fourth Avenue, 
Downtown.  The firm was a partnership of Charles T. Ingham of 215 North Linden 
Avenue, Point Breeze (later of 917 Bellefonte Street, Shadyside), and William Boyd 
of Sewickley. 
 
Ingham & Boyd, whose clients included some of Pittsburgh's wealthiest families, 
were often described as "society architects."  Other work by Ingham & Boyd included 
design of: 
 

-Shadyside:  Houses at 620 Amberson Avenue, 619 Pitcairn Place, and 432 
Morewood Avenue. 

-Squirrel Hill:  Houses at 5564 Aylesboro Avenue, 1055 Devon Road, 1233 
Inverness Avenue, 5455 Dunmoyle Street, and 5256 Wilkins Avenue. 

-Point Breeze:  A house at 322 Richland Lane. 
-Mount Washington:  Chatham Village. 
-Fox Chapel:  the Shadyside Academy gymnasium. 
-Oakland: The former Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania  
building, 4338 Bigelow Boulevard, and the Board of Public Education building, 

341 South Bellefield Avenue. 
-Wilkinsburg:  The Second United Presbyterian Church of Wilkinsburg. 
-Homewood:  Westinghouse High School. 
-Regent Square:  Waverly Presbyterian Church, Forbes and South Braddock 

Avenues. 
-North Side:  The Buhl Planetarium 
 

Architectural Style 
Ingham & Boyd redesigned 720 Amberson Avenue in the French Eclectic style. The 
style is shown in the house’s form, with a steeply pitched hipped roof and tall 
chimneys, nearly symmetrical facade, and circular dormers, and in details such as the  
open terrace, masonry construction with quoins at the corners, windows with small 
panes, and beaux arts detailing on the first-floor lintels and doorframe. 
 
The French Eclectic style, according to A Field Guide to American Houses (Virginia 
and Lee McAlester, 1984) was used between about 1915 and 1940. The French 
Eclectic style was never as common as the contemporaneous or overlapping Colonial 
Revival, Prairie, and Craftsman styles, and was almost always used in the design of 

From The Pittsburgh Press, March 27, 1929. 



larger houses. In the Pittsburgh area, additional examples of the style can be found in 
Squirrel Hill, Point Breeze, and the Sewickley area. McAlester and McAlester note 
that houses in the symmetrical subtype of the French Eclectic style, like 720 
Amberson Avenue, were designed with more formal facades than those built in the 
style’s other two subtypes, with asymmetrical and towered forms. 

 
Street name and numbering 
 
The house at 720 Amberson Avenue was originally known as 718 Amberson Avenue. 
The address became 720 Amberson Avenue sometime in the early 1920s. 
 

  



JAMES HAY AND KATE AIKEN REED 

 

James Hay Reed was born at Dixmont Hospital on September 10, 1853, where his 
father, Dr. Joseph A. Reed was the first superintendent.  James Reed was his parents’ 
third child, but the first to survive past infancy.  His mother, Eliza Hay Reed died in 
1858, when James was still a small child.  

James Reed attended public schools growing up and Western University of 
Pennsylvania (now the University of Pittsburgh) for college, graduating in 1872.  He 
passed the bar in 1875 and formed the law firm of Knox & Reed with future U. S. 
Senator, Philander Chase Knox in 1877.  Reed’s law firm is still operating today, 
under the name Reed Smith, LLP, and has offices all over the world.   

Katherine Jones Aiken was born on August 9, 1857, the oldest of ten children born to 
David Aiken, Jr. and Caroline Jones Aiken. David Aiken was the son of Thomas 
Aiken, one of the earliest settlers of Pittsburgh and was born on his father’s farm, 
“Shady Side,” in 1833. The farm was bounded by what are now Fifth Avenue, Neville 
Street, the East Busway, and South Aiken Avenue.  

The Aiken family was very wealthy. David Aiken owned a building materials firm, 
Aiken & Company, and had land holdings valued at $220,000 at the time of the 1870 
census. The value of Aiken’s real estate was comparable to $8 million or more in the 
early 21st century.  When Kate was a young child her father built the family home 
which is still standing at 5020 Amberson Place.  Part of the land on this estate was 
given to Kate to build 720 Amberson Avenue.   

In 1878, Kate Jones Aiken and James Hay 
Reed were married.  City directories from 
1879 show that they lived in a home on 
Craig Street, North of Forbes before work 
was completed on their home at 720 
Amberson Avenue.   

The Reeds would move into 720 (then 718) Amberson in 1879 and their four children 
would be born while living in the home.  Their first son, Joseph Hay Reed, was born 
on February 24, 1879, but would, unfortunately die in 1881.   

Their next son, David Aiken Reed would be born on December 21, 1880.  David Reed 
attended Shadyside Academy, Princeton University, and received his law degree from 
the University of Pittsburgh in 1903.  He served as a Major in the U. S. Army during 
World War I, and in 1923 was elected U. S. Senator, a position he held until 1935.   

From the Pittsburgh Daily Post, June 8, 1878. 



On May 14, 1884, James Hay Reed, Jr. was born.  James Jr. would become President 
of American Die and Forge Company of Swissvale and build a house on Castleman 
Street.  He died of pneumonia in 1930, at the age of 46, while on a business trip to 
New York.   

The couple’s only daughter, Katherine Aiken Reed, would be born on April 11, 1886.  
Katherine married attorney John Gilfillan Frazer and returned to 720 Amberson as an 
adult.  

The 1880 U. S. Census was the first to be taken after 720 Amberson Avenue was 
constructed.  James Reed was 26 at the time, and Kate Reed was 22.   Joseph, 
incorrectly recorded as “George” was 1.  The family employed two live-in servants: 
Kate Boland, 21, and Margaret Quinn, 15.  Both were born in Pennsylvania and were 
the children of Irish immigrants.   
 
James H. Reed purchased the lot next door to 720 Amberson in 1885 and built a new 
home at 716 Amberson, which would become the family home in 1888.   In 1889, 
shortly after moving from 720 Amberson Avenue, James H. Reed and his partner, 
Philander Knox, successfully defended the South Fork Fishing Club against the 
numerous lawsuits filed against the club for causing the Johnstown Flood.   

President Benjamin Harrison nominated James H. Reed to be a federal judge for the 
U. S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania in 1891.  Judge Reed 
served in that position for one year before resigning in January of 1892.  
 
James H. Reed died of kidney failure on June 17, 1927 and was buried in Allegheny 
Cemetery.  Kate Aiken Reed died of pneumonia on May 1, 1945 at the age of 87 and 
is buried next to her husband.   

 

  



DEWITT C. AND DELIA HUBBARD CLAPP 

 

DeWitt Clinton Clapp and his wife Delia Hubbard Clapp purchased 720 Amberson in 
1888.   

DeWitt Clapp was born in New York on July 3, 1827.  At a young age, his parents 
moved his family to a farm near Columbus, Ohio.  On January 30, 1856, he married 
Delia Hubbard. Hubbard had been born in Ohio on June 8, 1831. She was also raised 
on a farm, however her father was a physician.  After the couple was married, Clapp 
worked his way up in business, working in many different industries, eventually 
becoming secretary and treasurer of the Park Steel Company.   

Records of the 1890 manuscript census, which would provide information on the 
Clapp family in that year, were destroyed in a warehouse fire in Washington, D. C. in 
1921.  
 
When the 1900 census was enumerated, DeWitt Clapp was 72, and Delia Clapp was 
69.  720 Amberson was owned without a mortgage and the Clapps employed two 
live-in servants: Anna B. Ayers, 22, and Ursula Gates, 27.  Both servants were natives 
of Ohio and unmarried.           
 
Unfortunately, Delia Clapp would become ill in 1909 and after struggling for a few 
weeks with progressive pernicious anemia, she passed away on June 3, 1909 at the 
age of 77.  She was laid to rest in Allegheny Cemetery.   
 
The 1910 census recorded the then 82-year-old De Witt Clapp as living with a 
“personal visitor,” Anah G. Kent, 37.  Kent was a native of Wisconsin who had been 
married for four years, and had also been counted for the census in her home state that 
year.  In Wisconsin, she lived with her parents, Gaines Knapp, a wealthy banker and 
his wife, Florence Knapp, and Anah Kent’s husband, George Kent, a contractor. The 
Knapps were originally from New York, which may explain how they knew DeWitt 
Clapp.    
 
Clapp still kept Ursula Gates in his employ, and her sister, Mary Z. Gates, 40, had 
also joined the household as a servant.   
 
At the time of the 1920 census, De Witt Clapp was finally retired at the age of 92.  He 
now had a live-in nurse, Jeanette Porter, 44, to take care of him, and he still employed 
Ursula and Mary Gates as maids.   
 
On October 5, 1921, De Witt C. Clapp passed away from a bowel obstruction.  He 
was 94.  He was laid to rest in Allegheny Cemetery, alongside his wife.  



JOHN G. AND KATHERINE REED FRAZIER 

 

In 1922 Katherine Reed, now married to John Frazer, returned to 720 Amberson 
Avenue, the home her parents had built and the 
place where she was likely born.  Katherine Reed 
had grown up next door at 716 Amberson 
Avenue and lead a charmed life.    Her name 
graced the society pages of local newspapers 
from a very young age, detailing parties she 
attended, the clothes she wore, and trips she took.  
She graduated from Bryn Mawr College and on 
April 24, 1911, she married John Gilfillan Frazer.    

John Frazer had been born on July 19, 1880 in 
what is now Carnegie, Pennsylvania.  He was the 
son of Pennsylvania Supreme Court Chief Justice 
Robert Sellers Frazer.  He graduated from Princeton University in 1901 and 
completed his law degree at the University of Pittsburgh, while working at 
Katherine’s father’s law firm.    He passed the bar in 1905 and continued working at 
the firm, no doubt earning the favor of his future father-in-law.   

After marrying, the Frazers eventually settled into a house nearby on Castleman Street 
and had two children.  Their daughter, Katherine Reed Frazer was born on December 
27, 1912, and a son, John G. Frazer, Jr., was born on March 22, 1915.  

The 1930 census was the first to record the Frazers at 720 Amberson Avenue.   The 
census reported that the family owned a radio set, and both children attended school.  
Four servants also lived in the home and attended the family’s needs.  Edith Coggins, 
26, a native of Kansas, was the family’s waitress.  Anna Reiser, 37, who had 
immigrated from Germany in 1923 and had filed her papers to become a citizen was 
the cook.  Anna Baltes, 36, and Hilda Mayer, 23, were chambermaids.  Baltes and 
Mayer had immigrated from Germany in 1919 and 1928, respectively, and Baltes was 
now a citizen of the U. S., and Mayer had filed her naturalization paperwork.   
 
In 1940, 720 Amberson Avenue had an estimated value of $40,000. The house’s value 
was estimated at $100,000 in 1930, before the Great Depression affected property 
values throughout the Pittsburgh area and in other regions of the United States. 

John Jr. was the only child living at home in 1940, as his sister Katherine had married 
George Dilworth Lockhart in 1934.  John Jr. was attending Harvard Law School at the 
time, having graduated from Princeton in 1937.   

From the Pittsburgh Daily Post, July 29, 1900. 



Anna Baltes, now 47, still lived with the family as a maid, along with Isabel 
Ferguson, 27, a naturalized immigrant from Scotland.  Mary Williams, 46, from New 
Jersey was the cook, and Aina Creutcer, 39, a naturalized Swedish immigrant worked 
as a waitress.   

The 1940 census is the last census that provides information on occupants of 720 
Amberson Avenue. Manuscript census records are withheld from public view for 72 
years to protect the privacy of persons who were enumerated.  

John G. Frazer died of heart failure on April 17, 1942, at the age of 61.  Katherine 
Reed Frazer would live at 720 Amberson Avenue for the rest of her life.  She died of 
a stroke on April 19, 1967.  They were laid to rest in the family mausoleum in 
Homewood Cemetery.   

 

  



SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS 

 

The following materials accompany this report: 

- Copies of parts of plat maps of the area around 720 Amberson Avenue published in 
1872, 1882, 1890, 1906, and 1923. 

- Copies of parts of fire insurance maps of the area around 720 Amberson Avenue, 
published in 1893 and 1906.  

- The obituary of James Hay Reed from The Pittsburgh Press, June 18, 1927.  

- The obituary of Kate Aiken Reed from The Pittsburgh Press, May 2, 1945. 

- The obituary of Delia Hubbard Clapp from The Pittsburgh Press, June 4, 1909.  

- The obituary of DeWitt Clinton Clapp from The Pittsburgh Press, October 5, 1921. 

- “Society,” from Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, April 25, 1911. 

- “55-Year-Old Reed Mansion in Shady Side Will be Razed,” from The Pittsburgh 
Press, July 8, 1945.  

- The obituary of John G. Frazer from the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, April 18, 1942.   

- The obituary of Katherine Reed Frazer from the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, April 20, 
1967.  
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